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Supreme Court No.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ) Court of Appeal
) No. G040716
Plaintiff and Respondent, ) Superior Court
) No. 06NF2339

)

)
COLE ALLEN WILKINS, )
)
)

Defendant and Appellant.
)

Appeal from the Superior Court of Orange County,
The Honorable Richard F. Toohey, Judge

APPELLANT’S PETITION FOR REVIEW
OF THE PUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF
APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION
THREE, AFFIRMING THE JUDGMENT OF THE
ORANGE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

Petitioner, COLE ALLEN WILKINS, respectfully petitions this
Court for review followihg the published decision of the Court of Appeal,
- Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, filed cn January 7, 2011, affirming
the judgment of the Superior Court of Orange County. A copy of the opinion
of the Court of Appeal (“Opin.”) is attached hereto as an Appendix.

INTRODUCTION

The prosecution in appellant’s case involved an unprecedented
expansion of the felony murder rule to encompass a death resulting from
conduct which does not approach that which was anticipated by the inclusion

of burglary among the felonies included within the statutory definition of the
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rule. (See Pen. Code, sec. 189.) Here, appellant was charged with the
murder of David Piquette, who died when the car he drove collided with a big
rig truck after Piquette swerved to avoid a collision with a boxed stove which
had, moments earlier, fallen from the back of a truck driven by appellant. The
stove had been taken, without permission, from a house under construction in
Menifee, along with several other large appliances which had been loaded
into the bed of appellant’s truck without being secured with tie-down straps
which were available inside the cab of the truck. Appellant also failed to
close the tailgate of his truck in order to accommodate the load. Although
appellant was not charged with the burglary of the house in Menifee, he was
convicted of first degree felony murder on the basis of his presence near the
building site around the time that the appliances were delivered and on the
evening that the appliances were taken. _

In his appeal, appellant argued, among other issues, that the application
of the felony murder rule, under the circumstances of this case, constituted a
deprivation of his right to due process of law. The Court of Appeal rejected
all of appellant’s arguments and affirmed the judgment of the Superior Court.

NECESSITY FOR REVIEW

Review is necessary in this case to address important issues of law
which are likely to recur in other cases, and to preserve for further review

issues of federal constitutional dimension.

_ ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. WAS THE PROSECUTION AGAINST APPELLANT UPON A
THEORY OF FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER UNDER THE FACTS OF
THIS CASE IMPROPER AND DID IT CONSTITUTE A DEPRIVATION OF




APPELLANT’S STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO
DUE PROCESS OF LAW?

2. IS THE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT
THE VERDICT OF GUILT FOR FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER?

3. DID ERRORS RELATING TO JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON
FELONY MURDER DEPRIVE APPELLANT OF HIS STATE AND
FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW?

4. DID THE EVIDENCE SUPPORT JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON
AIDING AND ABETTING?

5. DID THE TRIAL COURT PREJUDICIALLY ERRED AND DENY
APPELLANT DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN IT INSTRUCTED THE
JURY THAT THEY COULD FIND APPELLANT GUILTY OF BURGLARY
ON THE BASIS OF EVIDENCE THAT DID NOT RATIONALLY SUPPORT
AN INFERENCE THAT HE WAS GUILTY OF THAT CRIME?

6. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY ALLOWING APPELLANT TO
BE IMPEACHED WITH PRIOR JUVENILE ADJUDICATIONS?

7. DID PUNISHING APPELLANT FOK FIRST DEGREE MURDER
UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE CONSTITUTE A
VIOLATION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL
PROHIBITIONS UPON CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
Appellant adopts the procedural facts and the summary of facts
contained in the Opinion on pages 3 through 11. The Court of Appeal
affirmed the judgment. (Opin., pp. 1, 27.)



ARGUMENT
I

THE PROSECUTION AGAINST APPELLANT UPON A
THEORY OF FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER
UNDER THE FACT OF THIS CASE WAS IMPROPER
AND CONSTITUTED A DEPRIVATION OF
APPELLANT’S STATE AND FEDERAL
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS OF
LAW THUS REQUIRING REVERSAL OF THE
JUDGMENT.

Appellant was prosecuted for first degree felony murder based on a
theory that Piquette’s death occurred during a continuous transaction arising
from the burglary of the Kane property. Appellant was neither charged nor
convicted of the burglary of the Kane property. Prior to trial, appellant’s
defense counsel moved for dismissal of the first degree murder charge on the
grounds that the burglary of the Kane property was not causally related to
Piquette’s death and that the act causing the death was not part of a
continuous transaction arising out of the burglary as the accident occurred
several hours after the burglary and over 60 miles away from the location of
the burgléry while appellant was neither fleeing nor being pursued. (1RT 3-
9.) The trial court denied the defense motion and permitted the prosecution
to proceed upon a theory of first degree felony murder. (1RT 13.) Appellant
was convicted of first degree murder in accord with the prosecution’s theory
of felony murder. (2CT 402; 406-407.)

The Court of Appeal rejected appellant’s argument that prosecuting
him for first degree felony murder constituted an abridgment of appellant’s
right to due process of law and held, instead, that because the evidence was
sufficient to support the jury’s verdict on a theory of first degree felony

murder, there was no due process violation. (Opin. p. 27.) Appellant submits



that not only does the evidence fail t¢ support his conviction for first degree
felony murder, as discussed, infra, in Argument II, prosecuting him upon a
theory of first degree felony murder deprived him of due process of law in
that the rationale for the statutory felony murder rule does not support a
prosecution and conviction for that offense under the facts of appellant’s
case and application of the statutory felony murder rule rendered his trial
fundamentally unfair.

Long ago this Court rejected the contention that the purpose of the
felony murder rule is to deter the commission of felonies enumerated in
section 189. (People v. Washington (1965) 62 Cal.2d 777, 781.) Rather,
the ostensible purpose of the rule is “to deter felons from killing negligently
or accidentally by holding them strictly responsible for killings they
- commit.” (Ibid; accord, People v. Hansen (1994) 9 Cal.4th 300, 310; People
v. Pulido (1997) 15 Cal.4th 713, 725.)

All of 'the’en'umerated felonies in Penal Code section 189 — .arson,
rape, carjacking, robbery, burglary, mayhem, kidnapping, train wrecking,
forcible sex acts, sex acts committed against children, or any murder
perpetrated by means of discharging a ﬁfearm from a motor vehicle — involve
danger to the lives of vulnerable victims who either would be direct victims

of the designated crime, physically present at the scene of the crime, who
| might attempt to interfere with or apprehend a perpetrator of such crimes, or
perhaps those who might inadvertently place themselves in the path of a felon
n reckless flight. (People v. Fuller, supra, 86 Cal.App.3d,'at p. 627.)
The Court of Appeal has held that the statutory felony murder rule was

properly applied in appellant’s case, not because the accidental death
occurred in the course of driving from the scene burglary, but because “the

act that caused hte homicide — the failure to tie down the load of stolen loot



— occurred at the scene of the burglar, not 60 miles later when part of the
unsecured load fell off the back of appellant’s truck as he drove to where he
could unload and hide the loot.” (Opin. p. 27.) It is inconceivable that the
felony murder rule was ever intended to apply to conduct which has no
relation to the dangers ordinarily associated with the offense of burglary,
such as confrontations with building occupants or those who might pursue
and attempt to apprehend a fleeing burglar. Obviously, the drafters of the
felony murder rule in 1892 could not have imagined the scenario in
appellant’s case nor anticipated that the rule would have any deterrent effect
upon the manner in which stolen property was secured in a vehicle and
asported from the scene of a burglary. |

Use of the felony murder rule to prosecute appellant for first degree
murder under the fact of this case was so far removed from the underlying
rationale for the felony murder rule that it was entirely unjustified, improper,
and in violation of both substantive and procedural due process inasmuch as
no person could possibly discern from the statute that a failure to carefully
load items into a truck would constitute the offense of first degree felony
murder. The Constitution “protects the accused against conviction except
upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute
the crime with which he is charged.” (In re Winship (1970) 397 U.S. 358,
364 (“Winship”.) The substantive statutory definition of the crime of first
degree felony murder in this state does not include malice as an element.
Winship requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every element of
murder, but the language of the Winship decision has broader implications. -
According to Winship, due process requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt

of “every fact necessary to constitute the crime.” (Winship, supra, 397 U.S.

at p. 364.) This means, at the very least, that the felony murder rule include



“a requirement of a relationship between the underlying felony and the
homicide beyond that of mere causation in fact.” (Cavitt, supra, 33 Cal.4th,
at p. 199, citing State v. Montgomery (2000) 254 Coan. 694 [759 A.2d 995,

1020].) In appellant’s case, this relationship does not exist and not only

could appellant not have known that his failure to tie down the load would
constitute an act sufficient to find him guilty of first degree murder, the
absence of a culpable relationship between the commission of the burglary
and the death of the victim violated appellant’s right to due process of law and

the judgment must be reversed.

I
THE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD IS
INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE
VERDICT OF GUILT FOR FIRST DEGREE
FELONY MURDER.
Appellant was convicted of first degree felony murder based upon a
death which occurred during the commission of a burglary: The conviction
required proof beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant burglarized the Kane
| house, that there was a logical nexus between the death and the burglary, and
that the death and the burglary were part of one continuous transaction.
Contrary to the finding of the Court of Appeal, appellant submits that the
evidence in the record is insufficient to support the conviction for first
degree murder. |
When reviewing a claim of insufficiency of the evidence, “the
reviewing court’s task is to review the whole record in the light most
favorable to the judgment to determine whether it discloses substantial
evidence -- that is, evidence that is reasonable, credible, and of solid value --

such that a reasonable trier of fact could find the defendant guilty beyond a
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reasonable doubt.” (People v. Rodriguez (1999) 20 Cal.4th 1, 11; People v.
Johnson (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 578.) The federal standard of review is very
similar. (See Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 317-320.) A

conviction which is not supported by sufficient evidence constitutes not just
an error of state law, but also a denial of due process of law and a violation of
the accused’s rights under the United States Constitution. (Jackson v.
Virginia, supra, 443 U.S., at p. 309.)

The elements of the offense of burglary are entry into a dwelling or
other structure with the intent to commit a felony therein. (Pen. Code, sec.
459.) In appellant’s case proof of these elements was severely lacking.
Apart from the fact that appellant was in possession of the property stolen
from the burglarized dwelling sometime after the burglary, the only other
evidence to support the element of entry with the intent to steal were the
facts that appellémt worked at a different building site in the same
neighborhood around the time of the burglary and that appellant made cell
phone calls, at 12:45 and 1:12 AM. ffom a location some 35 to 40 miles
~ from the location of the Kane property, and that he again made a cell phone
call at 4:30 A.M. from another location, also 30 to 50 miles from the
location of the Kane property. (See People’s Ex. 26 and Defense Ex. A.)
During the call made at 1:12 A.M., appellant told Ms. Trivich that he had
gotten some large applianécs. (3RT 337-338.) Appellant submits that this
vadditional bit of evidence is not substantial enough to support a finding that
appellant committed the burglary at the Kane home. - v

_ Evidence which merely raises a strong suspicion of the defendant's
guilt is not sufﬁcient to suppoft a conviction. (People v. Briggs (1967) 255
Cal.App.2d 497, 500; People v. Rascon (1954) 128 Cal.App.2d 118, 122.)

. Mere presence at or near the scene of a crime is not alone sufficient to



justify conviction, nor does possession of recently stolen property, without

more, warrant a finding of burglary. (People v. McFarland (1962) 58 Cal.2d

7438, [superceded on another point in People v. Burns (1984) 157 Cal. App.
3d 185]; People v. Foster (1953) 115 Cal.App.2d 866, 868; see also People
v. Bryson (1967) 257 Cal. App. 2d 201, 210.) The jury’s finding that

appellant committed the Kane burglary is not supported by substantial
evidence.
Likewise, there is insufficient evidence proving that the burglary and
the death were part of one continuous transaction. The accident on the 91
freeway occurred over four hours after appellant obtained the stolen
property. This fact is supported by the tesﬁmony of Ms. Trivich and by
appellant’s cell phone records which indicate that he called Ms. Trivich
around 1:00 A.M., on July 7", and he told her during that call that he had
obtained some large kitchen appliances. At the time that appellant made this
call, he was traveling from west to east, toward Palm Springs, where the
appliances were ultimately to be installed. (3RT 337-338; Ex. 26.) The
~accident .occurred shortly after 5:00 A.M. that morning, while appellant was
traveling in the -opposite direction, away from Palm Springs, where he had
apparently been unable to unload the appliances from his truck. (2RT 163-
164.) Thus, there is no evidence in'thé record that the accident which
occurred at 5:00 A.M. was close in time to the commission of the burgiary.
Additionally, the evidence does not support a rational conclusion that
there was a continuous, unbroken series of events which led from the
burglary to the accident. There is no evidenée, whatsoever, that appellant was
, 1n ﬂight from the scene of the burglary at the time of the accident. Ihdeed, it -
appears from the record that appellant had not only reached a place of

temporary safety, but that he had lingered there for some time before getting



back on the 91 freeway and returning to Long Beach.

Nor is there any evidence, whatsoever, in the record that anyone was in
pursuit of appellant from the time that the Kane home was burglarized until
the time of the accident. Indeed, the burglary at the Kane residence was not
discovered until hours after the accident occurred. (2RT 122.) Thus, there is
no evidence to support a conclusion that the death occurred during efforts to
escape from the scene of the burglary or that the accident resulted from an
attempt to conceal the property which was openly on display in the bed of the
pickup truck.

Because the evidence in the record is insufficient to support a finding
that appellant burglarized the Kane residence, or that the burglary and the

~ death were part of one continuous transaction, th: judgement finding
appellant guilty of first degree felony murder must be reversed.
111

ERRORS RELATING TO JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON

FELONY MURDER DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF HIS

STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO

DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND REQUIRE REVERSAL OF

THE JUDGMENT.

Defense counsel requested that the jury be instructed with language
from CALCRIM No. 3261' regarding the duration of burglary for purposes

“of the felony murder rule. Defense counsel further objected to the

“continuous transaction” instruction, CALCRIM No. 549, because the case

upon which that instruction was based, People v. Cavitt (2004) 33 Cal.4th

187, was distinguishable from appellant’s case for a number of reasons.

'The pertinent language from CALCRIM No. 3261 is: “The crime of burglary
continues until the perpetrator has actually reached a temporary place of safety. The
perpetrator has reached a temporary place of safety if he has successfully escaped from the
scene and is no longer being chased and has unchallenged possession of the property.”

10



Finally, defense counsel argued that CALCRIM No. 549 is misleading and
vague in that the instruction does not require the prosecution to prove any of
the listed factors, or any factors at all, in order for the jury to find that the
burglary and the death is part of a continuous transaction. (SRT 727-733.)
The trial court refused to give any further instruction defining the
duration of the burglary, citing the use note for CALCRIM No. 3261 which
advises that the instruction should not be giving in a felony murder case.
(2CT 400; 5RT 734.) The Court of Appeal, like the trial court, relied upon
this Court’s decision in People v. Cavitt (2004) 33 Cal.4th 187, in which the

Court approved of an instruction invented and given by the trial court in that
case to guide the jury in applying the felony murder rule to a non-killer in a

multi-defendant case under a very unique fact situation.

Appellant submits that People v. Cavitt, supra, dealt with the problem

of the “complicity” of co-felons under the felony murder rule. Thus, the
focus of the Cavitt decision was whether the homicidai acts.of one felon can
be attributed to another by virtue of their joint criminal venture. (See,
generally, Id., at pp. 197-201.) In this regard, the Cavitt court jettisoned the
“in furtherance of the underlying felony” language, used by previous courts,
in favor of requiring a “logical nexus” between the homicidal acts of a co-
felon and the jointly-committed feloﬁy. In the context of a multi-defendant
case, this makes sense because, as this Court noted in Cavitt, .“Liab_ility for
felony murder [in a multi-defendant case] does not depend on an examination
of ‘the individual stafé; of mind of each person causing an unlawful killing...””
dd., at p. 205;) o
Likewise, the Cavitt éourt distinguished the concept of a “cdnt'inuous

transaction” and the “escape rule” in the context of a multi-defendant fact

11



situation. The discussion of this distinction arose because one of the

defendants in Cavitt argued that the jury was improperly instructed that the

underlying felony was not complete until all perpetrators relinquished
control over the victim, are in unchallenged possession cf the stolen
property, and have effected an escape and reached a place of temporary
safety. It was in this context that the California Supreme Court first
recognized “two related but distinct doctrines: the continuous-transaction
doctrine and the escape rule,” and observed that, |

“The ‘escape rule’ defines the duration of the underlying
felony, in the context of certain ancillary consequences of the
felony (People v. Cooper (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1158, 1167), by
deeming the felony to continue until the felon has reached a
place of temporary safety. The continuous-transaction
doctrine, on the other hand, defines the duration of felony-
murder liability, which may extend beyond the termination of
the felony itself, provided that the felony and the act resulting
in death constitute one continuous transaction.” (Cavitt, supra,
33 Cal.4th, at p. 208; emphasis in original.)

The above language from Cavitt does not dictate, however, that a jury
should rever be instructed, upon request, that the offense of burglary is |
complete when the perpetrator has réached a place of temporary safety. The
California Supreme Court previously determined, in a case cited in the above
passage from Cavitt, that felony murder is one of the “ancillary
consequences” of the feloﬁy:

“...we observe, in accordance with our analysis in People v. -
Cooper, supra, 53 Cal.3d 1158, that the duration of the offense
of burglary, as defined for the purpose of assigning aider and
abettor liability, need not and should not be identical to the
definition pertinent to felony-murder liability or to other ‘
‘ancillary consequences’ of burglary. (Id. at pp. 1166-1169; see
People v. Brady, supra, 190 Cal.App.3d 124, 134; cf. People v.
Ramirez (1979) 93 Cal.App.3d 714, 726; People v. Fuller
(1978) 86 Cal.App.3d 618, 622-628 [burglars' liability for

12



felony murder continues through escape until perpetrator
reaches place of temporary safety].)” (People v. Montoya
(1994) 7 Cal. 4th 1027, 1045.)

The distinction noted by the court in Cavitt applies in the context of a
multi-defendant case where it is likely that one or more co-felons might
successfully escape and reach a place of temporary safety, thus concluding
their liability as aiders and abettors of the underlying burglary. This does not,
however, end their liability for felony murder should a co-felon, left behind,
engage in conduct which causes a death. This is an extension of the rationale
which makes aiders and abettors liable for the natural and probable
consequences of the underlying felony. The Cavitt court’s concern for and
focus upon aider and abettor liability in the felony murder context accounts
for the court’s limitation on the escape rule, but that concern does not apply
to the facts of appellant’s case.

The e.svcape rule actually arose in the context of the felony murder

rule. As the California Supreme Court noted in People v. Cooper, supra:

“The escape rule originated in the context of the
felony-murder doctrine in the landmark case of People v. Boss
(1930) 210 Cal. 245. (See also, People v. Salas (1972) 7
Cal.3d 812, 823-824; People v. Ketchel (1963) 59 Cal.2d 503,
524; People v. Kendrick (1961) 56 Cal.2d 71, 90.) We have
also applied the escape rule to several other ancillary | '

- consequences of robbery. (See, e.g., Peoplc v. Laursen, supra,
8 Cal.3d 192 [kidnapping committed during escape from
robbery is kidnapping "to commit robbery" within section 209];
People v.Carroll (1970) 1 Cal.3d 581[injury inflicted on
robbery victim after property had been asported but before
robber escaped to a place of temporary safety occurred "in the
course of commission of the robbery" for purposes of bodily
injury enhancement].)” (People v. Cooper, supra, 53 Cal.3d, at
pp- 1166-1167; emphasis added.)

Appellant submits that the real question is not whether the escape rule

13



applies in the felony murder context, but whether the instructions given in
appellant’s case adequately instructed the jury on the essential elements of
felony murder under the facts of appellant’s case. Appellant submits that the
felony murder instructions given in his case were vague, confusing, and
misleading to the jury. First, although the jury was instructed that it may
consider the various factors listed in CALCRIM No. 549, the instruction
concludes by informing the jury that the People are not required to prove any
of the listed factors. Second, as defense counsel requested, it is necessary
that the jury be instructed that there are parameters upon the duration of
burglary in order to assist the jury in determining whether or not the burglary
and the fatal accident were, indeed, part of a continuous transaction. (See,

e.g.. People v. Boss, supra, 210 Cal,, at p. 251; see also, People v. Salas,

supra, 7 Cal.3d, at pp. 823-824; People v. Ketchel, supra, 59 Cal.2d, at p.
524; People v. Kendrick (1'961) 56 Cal.2d 71, 90 [14 Cal.Rptr. 13,363 P.2d

13])

“[TIhe United States Supreme Court has held that jury instructions
relieving the prosecution of the burden of proving beyohd a reasonable doubt
each element of the charged offense violate the defendant's due process
rights under the federal Constitution. (Sullivan v. Louisiana (1993) 508 U.S.
275, 277-278; Carella v. California (1989) 491 U.S. 263, 265, (per curiam);
People v. Kobrin (1995) 11 Cal. 4th 416, 422-423 & fn. 4.) Such erroneous

instructions also implicate Sixth Amendment principles preserving the

exclusive domain of the trier of fact. (Carella v. California [1989] 491 U.S. at
p. 265; People v. Kobrin, supra, 11 Cal. 4th at p. 423.) .. .. The prohibition

against directed verdicts for the prosecution extends to instructions that

effectively prevent the jury from finding that the prosecution failed to prove

a particular element of the crime beyond a reasoniable doubt. (United States v.
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Gaudin (1995) 515 U.S. 506, 510-511, 522-523; People v. Kobrin, supra, 11
Cal. 4th at pp. 423-424.)” (People v. Flood (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 491-
492.)

Moreover, when “the jury is misdirected or mislead on an issue vital
to the defense and the evidence does not point unerringly to the guilt of the
person accused,” then such misdirection constitutes prejudicial error.

(People v. Rogers (1943) 22 Cal.2d 787, 807.) Because the trial court’s

instructions had the effect of depriving appellant of a trial on all the material
issues, appellant’s Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to jury trial and to
due process of law were violated and the “Chapman™ standard of review
~applies. Thus, reversal is required if it cannot be shown that the error was
harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Even if the error is subject to the
“Watson” standard, however, the judgment must be reversed because “After
an examination of the entire cause, ircluding the evidence [citation], it
appears ‘reasonably probable’ the defendant would have obtained a more
favorable outcome had the error not occurred.” (People v. Watson (1956) 46

Cal.2d 818, 836).” (People v. Breverman (1998)19 Cal.4th 142, 178.) For

this reason, this Court should grant review of the decision of the Court of

Appeal.

*Chapman v. California (1956) 386 U.S. 18, 24.
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v

THE EVIDENCE DID NOT SUPPORT JURY

INSTRUCTIONS ON AIDING AND ABETTING AND THE

COURT PREJUDICIALLY ERRED BY GIVING SUCH

INSTRUCTIONS.

Appellant’s trial counsel objected to jury instructions on aiding and
abetting on the grounds that there was no evidence in the record to support an
aiding and abetting theory and, additionally, to instruct on such a theory
would invite the jury to speculate and “fill in” facts which were not proven by
the evidence. The trial court disagreed and gave jury instructions on aiding
and abetting: (5RT 710-712; 714.) Appellant submits that these instructions
were not supported by any evidence that appellant was an aider and abettor of
the offense of burglary nor that he was aided and abetted in committing any
such offense and, therefore, were instructions upon a prosecution theory
which was not supported by any evidence. The given instructions invited the
jury to speculate and to conclude that appellant was guilty of the underlying
burglary offense without sufficient evidence to sﬁpport such a conclusion.

Well established case law supports the argument that absent proof that
some other individual committed the offense of burglary, the prosecutor in
appellant’s case was prohibited from proceeding upon a theory of aiding and

abetting. (People v. Perez (2005) 35 Cal. 4th 1219, 1225) here, the

prosecutor made no secret of the fact that he was requesting aiding and
abetting instructions in order to suggest to the jury a hypot_hetical factual
scenario by which the prosecution could counter the defense theory that
appellant did not burglarize the Kane property. (SRT 710.) The trial court
“and the Court of Appeal concluded that there was evidence of aiding and |
| abetting based on defense counsel’s “attempts tor elicit” in cross-examination

of the police officers, the fact that it required more than one officer to lift
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the large items of property stored in the garage in Palm Springs. (SRT 711;
Opin. pp. 14-15.) Defense counsel’s attempts to elicit the fact that a
refrigerator is a heavy and bulky item was entirely insufficient to justify
instruction on a theory of aiding and abetting. There was no evidence
presented to the jury to support the inference that appellant either aided some
other person in committing the burglary or that appellant was aided by
another person. If the prosecutor’s argument was correct, any person found
in possession of property stolen from a burglarized dwelling could be
prosecuted on a theory of aiding and abetting, notwithstanding the complete
absence of evidence that the defendant was assisted by another person. Here,
* the only “facts” giving rise to jury instructions on a theory of aiding and
abetting were those which the prosecutor hoped the jury would supply from
their imaginations. (6RT 980-981.) “The giving of such a legally correct but

inapposite instruction amounts to the presentation of a factually inadequate

theory.” (People v. Perez, supra, 35 Cal. 4™, at p. 1234.)

In éppellant’s case, whether or not he actually burglarized the Kane
~ property was an essential element of the offense of first degree felony
murder. The jury was presented with two theories by which they could
conclude that appellant was guilty of the burglary of the Kane property: either
he burglarized the property himself, or he aided and abetted someone else in
the commission of the burglary. The latter of these two theories was
improperly before the jury. “[W]hen the prosecution presents its case to the
jury on ‘alternate theories, some of which are legally correct and otheré,
legally incorrect, and the reviewing court cannot determine from the record
on which theory the ensuing general verdict of guilt rested, the conviction

cannot stand.” (People v. Green (1980) 27 Cal.3d 1, 69.) Based upoh the

trial court’s giving jury instructions on a factually unsupported theory,

17



coupled with the prosecutor’s final argument urging the jury to adopt this
unsupported theory of guilt, this Court cannot determine from this record
upon which theory the verdict rests. For this reason, the judgment finding
appellant guilty of first degree felony murder should have been reversed and

review should be granted.

\Y

THE TRIAL COURT PREJUDICIALLY ERRED AND
DENIED APPELLANT DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN
IT INSTRUCTED THE JURY THAT THEY COULD FIND
APPELLANT GUILTY OF BURGLARY ON THE BASIS
OF EVIDENCE THAT DID NOT RATIONALLY SUPPORT
AN INFERENCE THAT HE WAS GUILTY OF THAT
CRIME.

The trial court instructed the jury with CALCRIM No. 376 as follows:

“If you conclude that the defendant knew he possessed
property and you: conclude that the property had in fact been
recently stolen, you may not find the defendant committed the
crime of burglary based on those facts alone. However, if you
also find that supporting evidence tends to prove his guilt, then
you may conclude that the evidence is sufficient to prove he
committed burglary. '

“The supporting evidence need only be slight and need
not be enough by itself to prove guilt. You may consider how,
where, and when the defendant possessed the property, along
with any other relevant circumstances tending to prove his guilt
of burglary. '

“Remember that you may not find that the defendant
committed any crime unless you are convinced that each fact
essential to the conclusion that the defendant committed that -
crime has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” (1CT 357;
6RT 1015-1016.)

18



CALCRIM No. 376 permitted an inference of guilt without a rational
basis, and thus, this instruction violated appellant's right to due process of law
as guaranteed by the United States Constitution. Due process is denied when
the court instructs the jury that it can infer that a defendant is guilty of

burglary from evidence that does not rationally permit that finding under the

circumstances of the particular case. (Ulster County Court v. Allen (1979)
442 U.S. 140, 157 [60 L.Ed.2d 777, 99 S.Ct. 2213] [instruction permitting
inference not rationally founded violates due process right].) A rational
finding or inference requires evidence that makes the fact to be found or the
inference to be drawn more likely to be true than untrue. (Ibid.) Here, the
corroborating evidence to support an inference that appellant entered the
Kane’s building site in Menifee with the intent to steal the appliances did not
rationally support such an inference. The only evidence in support of the
inference that appellant committed a burglary at the Kane property was his

- possible presenee near the property around the time that the appliances were
delivered. Apart from this fact, and appellant’s possession of the appliances,
there was no other evidence — circumstantial or physical — to support the
inference that it was appellant who entered the Kane house and took the
appliances. Yet the jury was allowed to make this inference based upon only
slight corroborating evidence even though appellant offered a reasonable
explanation for his possession of the stolen property which did not involve

~ entering the Kane house. By focusing on one isolated fact, fhe instruction
here allowed the jury to avoid assessing other facts in the case including
appellant’s explanatioﬂ for his possession of the appliances. (See United
States v. Warren, supra, 25 F.3d at p. 899; United States v. Rubio-Villareal

- (9th Cir. 1992) 967 F.2d 294, 299-300.) Indeed, the United Stateé Supreme

-Court has held that only unexplained possession of stolen goods may
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support an instruction to a jury that they may infer guilty knowledge from
possession of stolen property. (Barnes v. United States (1973) 412 U.S.
837, 845.) CALCRIM No. 376 does not instruct the jury, at all, to take into

consideration a defendant’s explanation for his possession of stolen
property. The inference which the jury was permitted to draw in appellant’s
case went far beyond that which would be proper under federal and state
constitutional due process standards.

CALCRIM No. 376 also affected appellant's substantial rights to due
process of law because the instruction created an unbalanced charge to the
jury. Indeed, CALCRIM No. 376 inherently violates these constitutional
principles. In Wardius v. Oregon (1973) 412 U.S. 470, 474 fn. 6) the United

States Supreme Court stated that "state trial rules which provide
nonreciprocal benefits to the State when the lack of reciprocity interferes
with the defendant's ability to secure a fair trial" violate the defendant's due
process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment. (See also, Washington v.
Texas (1967) 388 U.S. 14 [18 L.Ed.2d 1019, 87 S.Ct. 1920].) Noting that
the Due Process Clause "does speak to the balance of forces between the
accused and his accuser," the Court held in Wardius that "in the absence of a
strong showing of state interests to the contrary™ there "must be a two-way

street” as between the prosecution and the defense. (Wardius v. Oregon,

supra, 412 U.S. at pp. 474-475.) The error requires that this Court grant

~ review of _fhe decision of the Court of Appeal.
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VI

TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING
APPELLANT TO BE IMPEACHED WITH
PRIOR JUVENILE ADJUDICATIONS.

Prior to appellant’s decision to testify, defense counsel objected to
any impeachment of appellant with criminal conduct which occurred when
appellant was a juvenile on the grounds that the prior criminal conduct was
remote and would be more prejudicial than probative. (3RT 499-501; 4RT
519-510.) The trial court permitted the prosecutor to impeach appellant with
two instances of theft which occurred in 1991, over 15 years prior to the
present offense, when appellant was 15 years old. (4RT 520; SRT 790-791;
2CT 441-443.) Appellant submits that the trial court abused its discretion by
permitting appellant to be impeached with prior vonduct which was so remote
in time as to have practically no rele\}ance to appellant’s credibility at the -
time of trial, but which was so unduly prejudicial that reversal is required.

Section 788 of the California Evidence Code, as well as Article I, |
section 28 of the California Constitution, permits the impeachment of
witnesses in criminal cases by prior felony conviction. Additionally, the
prosecution may introduce prior conduct evincing moral turpitude even if
such conduct was the subject of a juvenile adjudication, subject, of course, to
the restrictions imposed under Evidence Code section 352 and other

applicable evidentiary limitations. (People v. Lee (1994) 28 Cal. App. 4th

1724, 1740.) In admitting evidence of prior offenses or the subject matter
of prior juvenile adjudications, the trial court (a) must disallow such
impeachment if the prior conviction does not involve "moral turpitude” or a
* "readiness to do evil" and (b) retains discretion to disallow impeachment of

the defendant if the probative value of the prior conduct, on the issue of the
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witness' credibility, is outweighed by its probable prejudicial impact upon the
jury. (Evid. Code §352; People v. Beagle (1972) 6 Cal.3d 441; People v.
Castro (1985) 38 Cal.3d 301.)

In assessing whether prior criminal conduct involving moral turpitude
should be admitted to impeach a criminal defendant, the trial court must
consider (1) the extent to which the prior conviction reflects on the
defendant's honesty and integrity; (2) whether it is near or remote in time to
the instant offense; (3) whether it is for the same or substantially similar
conduct for which the accused witness is on trial. (People v. Beagle and

People v. Castro, supra; People v. Robbins (1988) 27 Cal.3d 303, 315.)

Furthermore, in interpreting the third of the above listed factors, the court
should admit prior convictions for the same or similar crimes "sparingly" for
impeachment purposes because of their "heightened prejudice”. (People v.
Johnson (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d 425, 459.)

A trial court is required to weigh prejudice against probative value,
using the relevant Beagle - Castro factors. (Michail v. Fluor Mining and
Metals, Inc. (1986) 180 Cal.App.3d 284, 287; People v. Montiel (1985) 39
Cal.3d 910, 924.) The court need not specifically articulate its weighing

process, but the record must reflect that the trial court has evaluated the

evidence. (People v. Padiila (1995) 11 Cal:4th 891, 924.)

Here, the trial court ostensibly weighed the prejudice associated with
the use of appellant’s prior juvenile conduct against the potential for
prejudice and limited the impeachment to two instances of theft from two
separate victims in 1991. While the trial court’s decision to limit the use of
impeachment appears to havé been a reasoned exercise of discretion,
appellant respectfully submits, in light of the relevant Beagle-Castro factors

set forth above, it was not. This is primarily so because the conduct occurred
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when appellant was only 15 years old, over 15 year prior to the current
offense and 17 years prior to trial. Additionally, there was no evidence that

similar conduct evincing “moral turpitude” occurred subsequent to those two
thefts.

Furthermore, the fact that appellant had been adjudicated for theft
offenses in 1991 had little actual béaring upon his credibility at his trial in
2008. If anything, the prior conduct was cumulative to other evidence
presented during the prosecution case-in-chief from which the jury could
infer dishonesty such as appellant’s use of a false name and his attempt to
have Ms. Trivich take responsibility for the accident. As such, the jury was

not presented with a “false aura of veracity.” (People v. Tamborrino (1989)

215 Cal. App. 3d 575, 590.) It was entirely unnecessary for the prosecution
to present additional evidence bearing upon the issue of appellant’s ' _
credibility, particularly when that evidence concerned prior criminal conduct
similar to that in the present case.

The prejudicial effect of allowing appellant to be impeached with
these offenses was so overwhelming under the circumstances of this case,
‘that the impeachment should not have been permitted. Entirely aside from
issues of appellant’s credibility as a witness, by presenting the jury withv
evidence that appellant had, in the past, stolen property from others was
devastating to the defense, particularly in light of the weak evidence
connecting appellant to the burglary. This particularly prejudicial aspect of
admitting prior crimes evidence as impeachment has often been addressed by

reviewing courts. (Shepard v. United States (1933) 290 U.S. 96, 104; see

also People v. Collins (1968) 68 Cal.2d 319, 330-33 1.)” (People v. Antick
(1975) 15 Cal 3d 79, at pp. 98-99, overruled on another point in People v. |
McCoy (2001) 25 Cal 4th 1111.) Appellant respectfully submits that the
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error necessitates review by this Court.

Vi1

PUNISHING APPELLANT FOR FIRST DEGREE

MURDER UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS

CASE CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF THE STATE

AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL PROHIBITIONS

UPON CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

Appellant was sentenced to an indeterminate term of 25-years-to-life
imprisonment, the penalty which applies to a conviction for first degree
felony murder. Appellant submits that under the peculiar facts of this case,
imposition of this harsh sentence is so out of proportion to his culpability
that the punishment is cruel and unusual in violarion of the Eighth
- Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 1, section 17 of the
California Constitution.

In Harmelin v. Michigan (1991) 501 U.S. 957, the United States
Supreme Court held in a plurality opinion that while the Eighth Amendment

encompasses no proportionality guarantee, it nonetheless may forbid

extreme sentences that are grossly disproportionate to the crime. The Court
added that consideration of the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the
penalty were sufficient to uphold the constitutionality of a sentence. (1d., at |
pp- 1004-1004, dis_cussing prior law under Solem v. Helm (1983) 463 U.S.
2717, 292; see People v. CartWright (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 1123, 1134-

1135.) For the reasons set forth below, however, appellant's sentence is
grossly disproportionate to the offense and reversal is compelled under the
Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. (Harmelin v. Michigan,
supra, 501 U.S. at p. 1001.) I

\

In People v. Dillon (1983) 34 Cal.3d 441, our Supreme Court upheld
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the felony murder rule over a compendium of constitutional challenges and
concluded that the rule governed a broad spectrum of homicides -- even those
which were unintentional or the result of recklessness or panic -- committed
in the course of one of the enumerated felonies set forth in Penal Code
section 189. But although it upheld the rule's sweep as to proof of felony
murder, the Court concluded that the penal consequence of section 189, a
statutorily-compelled sentence of first degree murder, was constitutionally

vulnerable:

"As the record before us illustrates, however, in some
first degree felony-murder cases this Procrustean penalty may
violate the prohibition of the California Constitution against
cruel or unusual punishments. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 17.)" (Id., at
p-477.)

The Court in Dillon then conducted a careful analysis pursuant to In re

Lynch (1972) 8 Cal.3d 410, and concluded that the life sentence for first
degree murder was disproportionate to the defendant's culpability pursuant to
article I, section 17, of the California Constitution, and modified the
Jjudgment of conviction to reflect a sentence of second degree murder

" because the defendant nonetheless "intentionally killed the victim without

legally adequate provocation." (Dillon, supra, 34 Cal.3d at p- 489.)

The facts of this case are comparable to those in Dillon, except for
the fact that appellant’s culpability for the offense of first ‘degree muroer is
even less than fhat of the defendant 1;1 Dillon because appellant’s acts of
overloading his truck with stolen properfy and driving on the freeway do not
demonstrate an intent to kill or even t_he"wanton disregard for life necessary
for a second degree murder conviction. As such, appellant’s culpability was

~ less than that of the defendant in Dillon, who intentionally armed himself

with a gun prior to initiating the criminal activity and who was the actual

shooter. Obviously, the defendant’s conduct in Dillon posed a high risk of
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danger by virtue of the defendant’s use of a weapon.

With respect to the final two elements of a Lynch analysis -- the
‘danger of the offense, and the danger of the offender to society -- appellant
does not want to minimize the gravity of the current offense but again
implores the court to consider his actions in light of the surrounding
circumstances. Appellant did not engage in any intentional violent conduct
towards any victim. Indeed, assuming his guilt for the offense of burglary, he
took precautions to avoid confrontation with property owners or those who
might attempt to apprehend him during an escape. The fact that he may have
negligently overloaded his truck may demonstrate greed, it does not
demonstrate such a dangerous level of culpébility that appellant should be
treated in the same manner as one who premeditates, deliberates and

commits first degree murder.

Under a proportionality review appellant does not merit the term
imposed upon him here. In People v. King (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th 567, the
court recognized that "proportionality review" remains a viable concept today
and, in a proper case, should be unhesitatingly applied to mitigate overly-
harsh sentences. (Id., at pp. 575-576.) The statutory sentencing scheme
applied to appellant resulted in an overall sentence which is
disproportionately excessive in relation to his actual culpability under the |

circumstances of this case.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, appellant respectfully urges this

Court to grant review.
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It has long been recognized in this state that “[t]he purpose of the felony-
murder rule is to deter felons from killing negligently or accidentally by holding them
strictly responsible for killings they commit. [Citations.]” (People v. Washington (1965)
62 Cal.2d 777, 781, italics added.) Defendant committed a burglary of a residence under
construction before workers arrived to begin their day. He loaded the back of his pickup
truck with numerous boxed appliances and fixtures. He stuffed the cab of the truck to the
windows with smaller items. In his haste to leave the scene unnoticed, he left the tailgate
on the truck down and did not tie down the loot loaded into the bed of the truck despite
the fact that he had ties in his truck. Sixty miles later on his drive home where he would
unload the loot, the stove defendant stole fell off the back of his truck, resulting in the
victim’s death. The jury convicted defendant of first degree murder under the felony-
murder rule. He contends, inter alia, that the evidence doeé not support his conviction
and that the court erred when it refused to instruct the jury that a burglary is complete
upon the perpetrator rea#:hing a place of temporary safety.

Although defendant was, by all accounts, driving normally and his crime

‘had not yet been discovered, defendant committed the acts that resulted in the death while
he was at the scene of, and in the process of committing, the burglary. The acts that
caused the homicide — the failure to tie down the load of stolen loot and raise the truck’s
tailgate — occurred at the scene of the burglary, not 60 miles later when part of the |
unsecured load fell off the back of the defendaht’s truck as he drove to where he could
unload and hide the haul. Asa result; it was not unreasonable for the jury to conclude the
homicide and the burglary were part of one continuous transaction, inasmuch as
defendant was in ﬂight from the scene with his license plates secreted.

We also reject defendant’s argument that the trial court erred in refusing his
request to instruct the jury pursuant to CALCRIM No. 3261 [burglary complete upon the
burglar reaching a place of temporary safety]. The Supreme Court has held the



instruction on the “continuous-transaction” doctrine is sufficient to inform the jury on the
duration of a felony for purposes of the felony-murder rule and that the escape rule,
which terminates a felony at the point the perpetrator reaches a place of temporary éafety,
defines the scope of an underlying felony for certain ancillary purposes and rnot for
felony-murder purposes. (People v. Cavitt (2004) 33 Cal.4th 187,208 (Cavitt).)!

Lastly, we address defendant’s argument that the 25 years to life sentence
imposed in this matter is cruel and unusual. Given defendant’s record as set forth in a
nearly one-inch thick probation report and described by the seasoned trial judge as
“chilling,” as well as the fact that the jury found defendant guilty of first degree murder,

we reject this argument as well.

1
FACTS

Appliances at the Work Site

Defendant lived in Long Beach with Nancy Blake. On one day of the week
before July 4, 200v6, and one day of the week after, he wofked at a home construction site
- in Ménifee, a city in Riverside Couniy. The homeowner had a delivery of major
appliances and other items purchased from Home Depot oni June 28. Defendant’s cell
phone records showed he was in the area of the Menifee jobsite on the delivery date. The
delivery included a refrigerator, a dishwasher, a stove, a range hood, a microwave.and a
sink. FIt also included light fixtures, ceiling fans, door locks and door handles. Most of
the items were stored in the k'itchen area and some were in the garage. o

~ At the end of the work day on July 6, all of the items were still in the

residence when the workers locked the premises. While the owner was having breakfast

! The continuous transaction doctrine and the escape or flight rule, which
refers to the accused reaching a place of temporary safety, are closely related, but distinct
concepts. (Cavitt, supra, 33 Cal.4th at p. 208.) Cavitt provides the roadmap to
successful navigation of the difficulty created by the courts’ use of both concepts in
connection with the felony-murder rule. -



the next morning, he received a call from the carpenter working at the house telling him
all of his purchases were missing. He called the police. Defendant’s cell phone records
showed he was in the area of the Menifee construction site during the early morning of

July 7.

Defendant, Trivich, and Telephone Calls

In September 2005, sometime after their romantic relationship ended,
Kathleen Trivich and defendant entered into a business relationship to buy a piece of
property in Palm Springs and build on it. Trivich paid for the land and was to pay for the
materials to build a house on the property. Defendant said his contribution was to
“basically oversee the project.” Trivich also bought a Ford F-250 truck for defendant in
2006. The truck was to be used to haul building materials. As of July 2006, no
construction “whatsoever” had been completed. _
On July 6, 2006, defendant left his home in Long Beach about “8:30 or
9:00” p.m. He was driving his Ford F-250 truck. Trivich was at a speech and acting
class at 8:00 p.m. that night, until just after midnight. Sometime thereafter she checked
‘her cell phone and found a message from defendant. He wanted gas money. She called
defendant back on his cell phone. She agreed to give him r_noney. She drove to Long
'Béach, where she put $100 or $200 in an envelope and slid it under the door to his house.
| Afte; driving to Long Beach, where Trivich went to an ATM and withdrew
the money she left for defendant at his house, she again spoke to defendant on the phone.
She told him she dropped the money off at his house, and defendant said he had some |
news for hef. He said, “I’ve got a surprise for you. I got some really big things for the
| kitchen.” Trivich askéd him 'What he had, but he did not tell her. At the time of this call,

defendant’s cell phone was using d cell tower along the 91 Freeway.



The Freeway

Calls to the California Highway Patrol began at 5:01 a.m. on July 7, 2006.
The callers said there were items in one of the lanes of the westbound 91 Freeway, right
before “Kraemer and Glassell in Anaheim.” One said he ran into a big box, and that he
saw someone else run into it, too. About four minutes after the first call, someone
reported that a tanker truck rolled over.

At trial, Danny Lay testiﬁed he was westbound on the 91 Freeway
somewhere around Kraemer right before a freeway interchange at about 5:00 o’clock in
the moming of July 7, 2006. He was in the second lane to the right of the carpool lane.
A Ford pickup without a rear license plate was in front of him. There were “a lot of
boxes in the back of the truck.” When Lay was 25 to 50 yards behind the truck just east
of Kraemer, “a large box fell from the right corner of the truck into the freeway.” Lay
had a caf to his left and a car to his right, so he hit his brakes and tried to stop. He hit the
box. )

Lay proceeded after fhe pickup. He turned on his flashing lights, turned his
bright lights on and off repeatedly and hit his hém. The truck slowed down and both
vehicles pulled off the freeway. Lay pulled up next to the passenger side of the pickup,
but there were so many boxes blocking the window, he couldn’t see the driver. He thinks
the driver looked over at him, saw him and then “accelerated away.” Lay kept flashing
 his lights and honking his horn, and was finally able to pull up alongside the pickup
again. The driver of the pickup stopped and threatened Lay, using a vulgarity.

Lay identified defendant as the person who was driving the pickup.truck.
D'efendant and Lay got out of their vehicles, and defendant said he was “going to kick
[Lay’s] ass.” Lay said, “bring it on, but first something fell from your truck.” Defendant
looked in the back of the pickup and remarked, “Oh, my God. It’s a thousand-dollar

stove.” Lay saw the tailgate on the truck was down. There were no ropes or tie-downs.
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He also saw various sized boxes. He remembered seeing ceiling fans and a refrigerator.
He asked defendant for identification. Defendant went to the glove box and appeared to
look through it. He then said he must have forgotten his license, and that a friend,
Kathleen Trivich, owned the truck. He identified himself as Michael Wilkins.

Charles Thomas was also on the freeway that moming, driving behind a
white truck. The white truck made a “pretty severe” lane change. Thomas said “as soon
as he swerved and I kind of got startled and slowed down, and then all of a sudden, I saw
a white box, my headlights shined on this white box.” He explained it was dark out and
he wanted to move,'but “there was cars and a lot of traffic.” He was asked if he hit the
box, and responded: “It was so fast. Yeah, I hit it. It was so fast. Ididn’t slam on my
brakes, there was nothing I could do.” He said he called 911, and that another vehicle hit
the box, too, and they both pulled over to the side of the road. The other vehicle suffered
a flat tire, and “had a hard time limping off.”

Donald Wade was driving behind a big rig truck that morning, and “saw an
automobile coming across out of the left lanes across the traffic about, looked like about
90-degree angle and he hit the truck in front of me.”

James Davies, also on the freeway at the time, saw a truck as it hit the K-
rail. “When I moved forward in traffic about 50 yards or so, I did see an appliance sitting
in the lane.” Davies pulled over to the side of the road, called 911 and spoke with a
motorcycle officer who arrived at the scene.

Thomas Hipsher was driving “a big truck, tractor with two trailers”
carrying a full load of poWdered cement that morning as he drove along “the slow lane”
at 55 miles per hour. He felt an impact and lost control of his vehicle. He suffered

- bruised ribs and “a lot of cuts and bruises.” He never saw the car that struck him.

The Death



California Highway Patrol Officer John Heckenkemper responded to the
scene shortly after 5:00 a.m. on July 7. He described the scene: “Upon my arrival, there
was — traffic was obviously in disarray. There was a stove in the middle of the lanes
and beyond that, just west of the stove, there was an accident involving a big rig that had -
overturned.”

Captain paramedic John Mark of Anaheim described what he saw: “Upon
our arrival, we found a large semi-truck commodity hauler on its side off the shoulder of
freeway with the cab extending off the shoulder. And we recognized that there was a
vehicle actually trapped between the two trailers.” They could not get to the car
underneath the truck until the truck was removed. Then “it took a fair aniount of time to
extricate the victim from the vehicle.” The man inside was deceased.

The coroner testified she conducted an autopsy of David Piquette. She
described numerous injuries on the body, and said the cause of death was “positional
asphyxia. That caused — due to compression of neck and chest, positional asphyxia.”

An accident reconstructionist testified “Piquette swerved in an area just shy
of where the stove was . . . to hit the big rig where we know he did.” His investigation
showed the driver of the big rig “steered to the right at about the same time that a driver
probably saw . . . Piquette coming from the left, and then that would be a completely
natural human reaction.” He said that in order to avoid hitting the stove, given the
conditions, a driver in Piquette’s position would have had to have been driving at 28

miles per houi, and the speed limit in the area was 65 miles per hour.

Afterward

Blake received a telephone call from defendant “around” 5:00 or 5:15 on
~ the morning of July 7, 2006. He said he was coming home, and arrived at 5:30 or 6:00
a.m. Defendant said he needed help unloading some items. When she went outside, she

saw in the truck “a lot of boxes and what looked like to be . . . a refrigerator laying down
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on the bed with [a] box on top. Everything was boxed.” Boxes were also piled “to the
window” inside the cab of the truck.

Later that day, the two went to Palm Springs where defendant owned some
property. He and Trivich planned on building a house on the property. On the evening
of July 7, defendant telephoned Sean Doherty and asked if “it would be okay for him to
store some appliances in [his] garage.” The next day, July _8, Trivich and Doherty were
in Palm Springs, where Doherty owns a home.

.On July 8, defendant and Doherty spoke when they were alone. Defendant
told Doherty, “I’m in trouble. Something’s happened. There has been an accident.”
Defendant said somebody was killed. Doherty was told “something had fallen off
[defendant’s] truck, a stove had fallen off the truck, and somebody had swerved, or hit it
and swerved and was killed.” _ |

Blake recalled that at some point on July 8, there was a conversation about
what had happened on the 91 Freeway. Blake said defendant “suggested I don’t speak to
anyone about the accident until he could find a lawyer.” |

Doherty said that “maybe 8:00 6r 9:00” on the'v evening of July 8, he, Blake,
Trivich and defendant were together. Defendant was attenipting to hide the fact that he
had been the driver. Doherty was asked whether he heard defendant make a statement to
Trivich regarding who was driving the truck. Doherty responded: “That they were —
were trying to find some way to make it look like she was dnvmg the truck versus him.”
He said he heard defendant “trying :to convince” Trivich to lie and say she was driving
the truck whén the incident happened. |

At some later time, Doherty took “investigators from the highway patrol”
into his garage. They looked at the various items, which included a refrigerator, a |
dishwasher and a microwave. None of those items had been in his garage before he gave

defendant permission to store things there.



California Highway Patrol Officer Joseph Kenneth Morrison drove to the
construction. The distance from the construction site to the place where Piquette was
killed is a little over 60 miles. The distance from where Lay said he first saw the truck

carrying the appliances to the collision scene is approximately 5.6 miles.

Defendant’s Testimony

Defendant testified in his own defense. He explained his involvement with
Trivich with respect to Palm Springs: “I approached her in the late part of 2005, I don’t
know'exactly what month it was, but basically at that time, you know, the real estate
market was at its peak, things were going good. I was living in Palm Springs part time.
Previous to this, Sean who testified, had mentioned that he’had purchased this house fora
certain amount and now his house is valued at this. I saw this as a good opportunity to
possibly, you know, buy some property, build a house, sell it and, you know, hopefully
make a profit from it.” He added: “because she agreed to do the financial backing, I had
a deal that was to basically oversee the project and make sure the house got built in a
timely manner and made sufe everything went according to plan.”

With regard to the appliances, defendant explained that on July 6, 2006, he
had oral surgery, and then believed that night he “left [his] house siightly after 10:00,
10:15, 10:20, somewhere in that timeframe” and “went to Palm Springs.” Before getting
to Palm Springs, he stopped at the Home Depot “over there off of the 91 and Weir
Canyon I believe it is.” He added: “When I got there, I pulled into the parking lot.
Rick® was fhefe, he was with another fellow. I did not recognize him. He had a truck
load full of stuff. We talkedvbrieﬂy. He asked me if I was interested in the stuff, I told
him T was, however, I told him I wasn’t carrying that much cash on mé at that time. -My

- intention at that time was to buy the fridge and possibly the stove depending on how

? Defendant did not provide Rick’s last name.



much he was going to charge me. [{] He asked me if I was interested in the stuff and I
said, yes, definitely. He asked me if there was anyway I can come up with the money. I
told [him], yes, if he could give me another hour or so, I can go back home, retrieve some
money and meet him at a later time.” They agreed to a price of $1,500 for everything.

He admitted he suspected the merchandise may have been stolen, “almost
too good to be true.” He said: “I needed the stuff for the house to be built in Palm
Springs.”

Defendant said he had some tie-downs on his truck but the boxes were
stacked on top of the tie-downs and he couldn’t get to them. He weighed his options,
“jumped on the tailgate, I moved the stuff around and, you know, honestly felt at that
time with no traffic or anything like that and just the weigHt of the items, I didn’t feel that
there was a danger of .anything falling off my truck. We were talking about a 185-pound
stove and a 200-something-pound fridge.”

On cross-examination, he admitted that in 1991 he twice stole property
belonging to others with the intent to permanently deprive the owners of their property.
He confirmed he had been to the Menifee jobsite twice prior to this incident.

He said he first met Rick at a jobsite “in the Temecula or Menifee area.”
The second time he saw Rick was in a parking lot in Temecula, when defendant was on
his way to a restaurant. Rick took defendant to the back of his truck where there were
“stacks and stacks of tile. I looked at them, and he had two different kinds. I asked him

‘how much. He gave me a price. I thought the price was décent.” Defendant said he
purchased the tiles from Rick. |

The third time defendant saw Rick was when he was walking into a 24
Hour Fitness in Temecula on July 5, 2006. Rick flagged hini over to his truck. When the
prosecutor reminded defendant he had alrea.ldy' said the incident at the Home Depot was
the third time, dgfendant said, “I’m getting confused a little bit.” Defendant went on to
explain that at the time he saw Rick by the 24 Hour Fitness, Rick told him he had a fridge
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and a stove for $500. They made a deal, even though Rick did not have the appliances
with him. When the prosecutor asked him whether or not he testified differently on
direct, defendant accused the prosecutor of confusing him. Defendant said he and Rick
agreed to meet the following evening at 11:00 p.m. in the Home Depot parking lot in
Yorba Linda.

Defendant admitted to the prosecutor that his plan was to take all of the
stolen merchandise to Palm Springs and unload it himself at Doherty’s house. He also
admitted that he knew he ought to have tied them down.

Defendant then told the jury that after he made his purchases .in the Home
Depot parking lot, he drove all the way to Palm Springs to Doherty’s house, arriving at
about 2:00 a.m., and realized he could not lift the items by himself. So he turned around
to drive to Long Beach, starting the journey “a little after” 3:00 a.m., without even
unloading the smaller iterhs that were in the cab of the truck, or taking the time to tie
anything down. He said he left the tailgate down.

Defendant said he drove toward Blake’s house in the fast lane. He admitted
he lied to Lay, gave him a false name and gave him a false contact phone number. He
said he lied because he “wasn’t covered [undér] the insurance policy.” He admitted the
license plates and registration for the truck he was driving were in the passenger side
door, even though he told Lay he did not have them. Later he added another reason he
lied was because his license had been suspended.

As the prosecutor questioned defendant funh-er, he testified that when he
arrived at Blake’s home, he was able to unload the items himself. Bla_ke helped him with
the smaller items, but not with the larger ones. He said he used a dolly.

I
DISCUSSION

A. Impeachment with Prior Juvenile Adjudications
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Prior to trial, defendant moved to exclude evidence of his prior juvenile
adjudications for burglary in 1988 and 1990, for kidnapping in 1992, and for rape in
1993, as well as his adult conviction for failing to register as a sex offender. He asserted
this evidence was not admissible to impeach his testimony because the failure to register
as a sex offender is not a crime of moral turpitude and juvenile adjudications are not
convictions. The prosecutor stated his intention to introduce evidence of the conduct
underlying each of the juvenile adjudications, but not to introduce evidence of the adult
conviction.

The court exercised its discretion and excluded any reference to defendant’s
failure to register as a sex offender, the rape adjudication t}}at presumably gave rise to the
registration requirement, or the conduct underlying the rape adjudication. It also
excluded any reference to the burglaries due to potential prejudice given the importance
of the burglary in the present case. The court held, however, that defendaﬁt could be
asked whether he committed thefts on August 21, 1‘991,vand November 20, 1991. When
asked, defendant admitted he committed a theft on each occasion.

- Impeachment based upon criminal conduct is not limited to introduction of
a prior felony conviction. A defendant may be impeached with past criminal conduct
involving moral turpitude. (People v. Harris (2005) 37 Cal.4th 310, 337.) Admission of
such evidence is “subject, of course, to the restrictions imposed under Evidence Code
section 352 and other applicable evidentiary limitations.” (People v. Lee (1994) 28
Cal.App.4th 1724, 1740.) The trial court eXercises broad c{iscretion in determining the
admissibility of evidence and we review the court’s ruling for an abuse of discretion.
(People v. Harris, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 337.) “‘[D]iscretion is abused only if the court
exceeds the bounds of reason, all of the circumstances being considered. [Citation.]”
[Citation.]” (People v. Green (1995) 34 Cal. App.4th 165, 182-183.)

In exercising its discretion, the trial court should take into account factors

similar to those that must be considered when the admissibility of a prior conviction is
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under consideration: “(1) Whether the [conduct] reflects adversely on an individual’s
honesty or veracity; (2) the nearness or remoteness in time of [the conduct]; (3) whether
the conduct is for the same or substantially similar conduct to the charged offense; and
(4) what the effect will be if the defendant does not testify out of fear of being prejudiced
because of the impeachment by prior convictions. [Citation.]” (People v. Mendoza
(2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 918, 925.) Defendant does not contend the conduct fails to reflect
adversely upon his veracity. It does. (People v. Gurule (2002) 28 Cal.4th 557, 608
[“theft crimes necessarily involve an element of deceit”].) The third above listed factor is
not an issue. Defendant testified. The court could have permitted the prosecution to
introduce evidence that defendant committed burglaries, but did not do so because of the
similarity with the present alleged conduct, instead limiting impeachment to generic
thefts. The only factor at issue is remoteness.

The conduct with which defendant was impeached occurred in 1991. The
charged offense occurred in 2006, 15 years later. The prior conduct could be
characterized as remote, but this remoteness does not automatically render such evidence
inadmissible for impeachment purposes. (Cf. People v. Mendoza, supra, 78 Cal. App.4th
at p. 925 [“convictions remote in time are not automatically inadmissible for
impeachment purposes”].) In People v. Green, supra, 34 Cal.App.4th 165, the court
found a defendant’s 20-year old prior conviction was not inadmissible due to remoteness
because the defendant had not led a blameless life in the interim. (/d. at p. 183.) Neither
has defendant. After his discharge from the California Youth Authority on the August
1991 burglary that included his rape of a woman, he suffered a felony conviction as an
adult for failing to register as a sex offénder. The court considered the remoteness of the
prior conduct and defendant’s subsequent actions. Accordingly, we find the‘ trial court
did not err in permitting defendant to be impeached vﬁth the fact that he committed two
prior thefts. We do not here list defendant’s other subsequ;:nt transgresstons as they were

not made known to the court prior to the court’s ruling.
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B. Jury Instructions

Defendant argues the trial court erred when it instructed the jury on aiding
and abetting and on the effect of recent possession of stolen property. He also contends
the court erred when it refused his requested instruction on the escape rule. We address

each argument in turn.

1. Aiding and Abetting

The court instructed the jury on aiding and abetting pursuant to CALCRIM
Nos. 400 and 401. Defendant argues there was no evidence in the record to support the
instructions.

“Trnial courts only have a sua sponte duty to instruct on ‘the general
principles of law relevant to and governing the case.’ [Citation.] ‘That obligation
includes instructions on all of the elements of a charged offense’ [citation], and on
recognized ‘defenses ...and on the relationship of these defenses to the elements of the
charged offense.’ [Citations.]” (People v. Rubalcava (2000) 23 Cal.4th 322, 333-334.)

Here the evidence supported jury instructions on an alternative liability
theory of aiding ahd abetting. Besides defendant’s story about meeting someone named
Rick and another man in Yorba Linda, defense counsel also obliquely raised the issue at
trial. While cross-éxamining a highway patrol investigator, counsel questioned about the
number of people required to load the items found at Doherty’s home, and elicited the
fact that lifting was done by more than one person. Additionally, there was evidence law
enforcement found a fingerprint outside a laundry room window at the burglarized
residence. Todd Gorman, who locked up the residence at 7:30 or 8:00 p.m. on July 6,

2006, testiﬁéd the laundrfy room window did not latch properly. Gorman showed a
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highway patrol investigator the laundry room window because he thought the burglar
probably gained entry through the window. A latent fingerprint was lifted from outside
the window. Defense counsel attempted to demonstrate on cross-examination of the
investigator that the print was not defendant’s. Although objections to his questions were
sustained, defendant was in a position to argue the burglar was someone other than
defendant because if the fingerprint was his, the prosecution would have introduced that
evidence. Thus, there was evidence from which a jury could have inferred defendant

aided and abetted another in committing the burglary.

2. Recent Possession of Stolen Property

Defendant next contends “the trial court prejudicially erred and denied

[him] due process of law when it instructed the jury that they could find ‘[him] guilty of
burglary on the basis of evidence that did not rationally support an inference that he was
guilty of that crime.” The court instructed the jury: “If you conclude that the defendant
knew he possessed property and you conclude that the proberly had in fact been recently
stolen, you may not find the defendant committed the crime of burglary based on those
facts alone. However, if you also find that supporting evidence tends to prove his guilt,
then you may conclude that the evidence is sufficient to prove he committed burglary.
[9] The supporting evidence need only be slight and need not be enough by itself to prove
guilt. You may consider how, where, and when the defendant possessed the property,
along with any other relevant circumstances tending to prove his guilt of burglary. [{]
Remember that you may not find that the defendant committed é.ny crime unless you are
convinced that each fact essential to the conclusion that the defendant committed that
crime has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” |

| An inferenée of guilt may be drawn from unéexplained possession of stolen
property. (Barnes v. United States (1973) 412 U.S. 837, 843.) “Possession of recently

stolen property is so incriminating that to warrant conviction there need only be, in

15



addition to possession, slight corroboration in the form of statements or conduct of the
defendant tending to show his guilt. [Citations.]” (People v. McFarland (1962) 58
Cal.2d 748, 754.) “As long as the corroborating evidence together with the conscious
possession could naturally and reasonably support an inference of guilt, and that
inference is sufficient to sustain a verdict beyond a reasonable doubt, we discern nothing
that lessens the prosecution’s burden of proof or implicates a defendant’s right to due
process.” (People v. Williams (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 1157, 1173.)

Here there was substantial corroborating evidence. Defendant worked at a
construction site near the burglarized house. His cell phone records show he was in the
area at the time the merchandise was delivered to the residence and at the time of the
burglary. The night the appliances were stolen, he called Trivich and told her he “got
some really big things for the kitchen.” There was also evidence from which an inference
could be drawn that he was in a hurry to get home with the stolen items in that he did not
take the time to secure them on his truck. Plus, he testified he “needed the stuff for the

house to be built in Palm Springs.”

Defendant testfied he met with Rick in Temecula on July 5, at
approximately 4:15 p.m., and arranged to buy a refrigerator and stove from Rick. They
agfeed upon a price of $500. This purported meeting took place before the burglary.
There is no evidence Rick ever worked on at the burglarized house or knew of the
appliancés and fixtures it contained. |

| We note the last paragraph of the instruction cautions the jury to
“[r]emember that you may not find that the defendant committed any crime unless you
~are convinced that each fact essential to the conélusion that the defendant committed that
crime has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” Nothing in this record implicates |
- defendant’s constitutional rights, lessened the prosecution’s burden or permitted an
inference of guilt without a rational basis. The trial court did not err when it instructed

the jury on recent possession of stolen property.
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3. Denial of Request to Instruct the Jury That a Burglary is Complete
When the Perpetrator Reaches a Place of Temporary Safety

The court instructed the jury that defendant was charged with murder under
the felony-murder rule based upon his alleged commission of a burglary, and that the
felony-murder rule requires “the act causing the death and the burglary were part of one
continuous transaction.” (CALCRIM No. 540C; see Pen. Code, § 189.) The court then
gave a modified version of CALCRIM No. 549, defining a continuous transaction: “In
order for the People to prove that the defendant is guilty of murder under a theory of
felony murder, the People must prolve that the burglary and the act causing the death were
part of one continuous transaction. The continuous transaction may occur over a period
of time in more than one location. [{] In deciding whether the act causing the death and
the felony were part of one continuous transaction, you may consider the following
factors: [q] 1. Whether the felony and the fatal act occurred at the same place; []] 2. The
time period, if any, between the felony and the fatal act; []] 3. Whether the fatal act was
committed for the purpose of aiding the commission of the felony or escape after the
felony; []] 4. Whether the fatal act occurred after the felony but while the perpetrator
continued to exercise control over the person who was the target of the felony; [1] 5.
Whether the fatal act occurred while the perpetrator was ﬂéeing the scene of the felony or
otherwise trying to prevent discovery or reporting of the crime; []] 6. Whether the felony
was the direct cause of the death; [§] AND [q] 7. Whether the death was a natural and
probable consequence of the felony. [] It is. not required that the People prove any one -
of these factors or any particular combination of these factors. The factors are given to
assist you in deciding whether the fatal act and the felony were part of one continuous

transaction.”
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The court denied defendant’s request to instruct the jury with CALCRIM
No. 3261, which defines the escape rule. That instruction provides in pertinent part:
“[The crime of burglary . . . continues until the perpetrator{s] (has/have) reached a place
of temporary safety. The perpetrator[s] (has/have) reached a place of temporary safety if
(he/she/they) (has/have) successfully escaped from the scene[,] and (is/are) no longer
being chased[, and (has/have) unchallenged possession of the property].]” The court
refused this instruction per the Bench Notes following CALCRIM No. 3261. “This
instruction should not be given in a felony-murder case to explain the required temporal
connection between the felony and the killing.” (Cal. Crim. Jury Instns. (2011) Bench
Notes to CALCRIM No. 3261, p. 990.) The Bench Note is based upon the Supreme
Court’s decision in Cavitt, supra, 33 Cal.4th 187. |

The felony-murder rule is contained in Penal Code section 189, and states
in pertinent part: “All murder . . . which is committed in the perpetration of . . . burglary
. . . is murder of the first degree.” “‘“The purpose of the felony-murder rule is to deter
felons from killing negligently or accidentally by holding them strictly responsible for
killings they commit.” [Citation.] The Legislature has said in effect that this deterrent
purpose outweighs the normal legislative policy of examining the individual state of mind
of each person causing an unlawful killing to determine whether the killing was with or
without malice, deliberate or accidental, and calibrating our treatment of the person
accordingly. Once a person perpetrates or attempts to perpetrate one of the enumerated
felonies, then in the judgment of the Legislature, he is no longer entitled to such fine
Judicial calibration, but will be deemed guilty of first degree murder for any homicide
committed in the course thereof.” [Citation.] ‘Policy concerns regarding the inclusion of
burglary in the first degree felony-murder statute remain within the Legislature’s domain,
and do not authorize this court to Iirhit the plain lahguage of the statute.” (People v.
Farley (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1053, 1121.) “The mental state required is simply the specific

intent to commit the underlying felony; neither intent to kill, deliberation, premeditation,
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nor malice aforethought is needed. [Citaticns.]” (People v. Berryman (1993) 6 Cal.4th
1048, 1085, overruled on other grounds in People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 823, fn.
1)

When the felony-murder rule is invoked by the prosecution, the issue of
whether the homicide occurred “in the perpetration of” the underlying felony often arises.
“First degree felony murder does not require a strict causal relation between the felony
and the killing. The only nexus required is that both are part of one continuous
transaction. [Citations.]” (People v. Johnson (1992) 5 Cal.App.4th 552, 561.) The
continuous transaction doctrine was adopted “*for the protection of the community and its
residents.”” (Cavitt, supra, 33 Cal.4th at p. 207.)

The Cavitt court recognized that the continuous-transaction doctrine and
the escape rule are “two related, but distinct, doctrines.” (Cavitt, supra, 33 .Cal.4th at
p. 208.) In Cavirt, Cavitt and Williams plotted with Cavitt’s girlfrieﬁd McKnight to
burglarize the McKnight residence, tie up McKnight’s stepmother, Betty, and steal
Betty’s jewelry. Once they were inside, Cavitt and Williams put a sheet over Betty’s
head, bound her wrists and ankles, and beat her. They tied up McKnight and left her at
the scene to make it look as if she, too, was va victim. Cavitt and Williams then left the
scene. Betty died of asphyxiation. The defendants’ trial position was that McKnight
intentionally killed her stepmother after they left the scene .and had reached a place of
temporary safety. (I/d. pp. 193, 206.) Unlike the present case, the jury in Williams’s trial
was not only instructed on the continuous transaction-rule, but was also given an
escape/temporary safety instruction. Williams’s contention on appeal was that the trial
court erred when it added to the temporary safety instruction a paragraph stating
perpetrators have not reached a plac;a of temporary safety if the victim of the burglary
remains in the control of any of the perpetrators. He argued the law does not require all
perpetrators to reach a place of temporary safety before the burglary is deemed
completed. (/d. at p. 208.)
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The court held that whereas the ““escape rule’ defines the duration of the
underlying felony, in the context of certain ancillary consequences of the felony®™ . . .
[t]he continuous-transaction doctrine, . . . defines the duration of felony-murder liability
which may extend beyond the termination of the felony itself, provided the felony and the
act resulting in death constitute one continuous transaction. (Cavitt, supra, 33 Cal.4th at
p. 208, second italics added.) In rejecting Williams’s argument, the court stated it “would

- have been sufficient to have instructed the Williams jury on the continuous-transaction
doctrine alone.” (/bid.)

The genesis of a “continuous transaction” requirement in a felony-murder
context is found in People v. Miller (1898) 121 Cal. 343. There, Miller tricked Mrs.
Burns’s sister into bringing Nellie Ryan, his former housekeeper, to Mrs. Burns’s house.
When Ryan arrived and discovered Miller was inside, she turned and left. Miller
descended the stairs, exited the house, and immediately began shooting at Ryan, who ran
across the street and entered the Child residence. Miller attempted to pursue Ryan and
had his hand on the door handle of the Child residence when James Child “took hold of _
Miller.” Miller immediately turned and shot Childs. (/d. at p. 345.) The court rejected
Miller’s contention that the trial court erred in instructing the jury regarding burglary,
noting that section Penal Code 189 applied to killings “‘committed in the perpetration, or
attempt to perpetrate . . . burglary’” and entry with the intent to kill Ryan would suffice.
(Id. at pp. 346-347.) The court concluded “[t]he attempt to kill Nellie Ryan and the

shooting of Childs were part of one continuous transaction.” (/d. at p. 345.)

3 These ancillary consequences include determining whether the defendant.
inflicted great bodily injury in the course of a robbery (People v. Carroll (1970) 1 Cal.3d
581, 584-585 [injury inflicted on a robbery victim after property asported but before
robber reached place of temporary safety]), whether a kidnapping was for the purpose of
committing a robbery (People v. Laursen (1972) 8 Cal.3d 192, 199-200 [kidnapping
during escape may constitute kidnapping to commit a robbery]). and whether a firearm
was used during the crime (People v. Fierro (1991) 1 Cal.4th 173, 225-226 [firearm used
~ in escape constitutes use during commission of the robbery]).
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Thirty-two years later, our Supreme Court decided People v. Boss (1930)
210 Cal. 245. In that case, Boss and Davis robbed employees of a store. (/d. at p. 247.)
The defendants left the store énd went into the street when an employee alighted from the
store and gave chase across the street and toward an alley, where Boss turned, shot, and
killed the employee. (Id. at pp. 247-248.) The defendants contended the felony-murder
rule did not apply because the killing took place after the robbery had been committed.
(/d. at p. 250.) In rejecting that argument, the court noted a court in a sister state with a
similar felony-murder statute had held that “where the enterprise is one continuous act
including carrying away of property, a murder committed by one of the defendants in
flight 800 feet distant from the place of robbery in order to avoid apprehension is murder
in the first degree.” (Id. p. 252.)

The court noted the existence of burglary cases holding the crime is
complete upon entry, but concluded such a rule “was adopted to make punishment of this
class of crime fnore certain. It was not intended to relieve the wrongdoer from any . . .
cc‘)ns'e.quences of his act by placing a limitation upon the res gestae which is unreasonable
or unnatural.” (People v. Boss, supra, 210 Cal. at pp. 252-253.) Courts in sister states
similar felony-murder statutes have held the rule applies to a killi‘ng committed durihg the
res gestae of the felony.

In addressing its felony-murder rule, the Kansas Supreme Court held “[t}he
felony-murder rule applies when the victim;s death occurs within the res gestae of the
underlying felony. [Citation.] Res gestae has been defined as those acté done before,
during, or after the happening of the principal occurrence when those acts are so closely
connected with the principal occurrence as to form, in reality, a part of the occurrence.
[Citation.]” (State v. Jackson (Kan. 2005) 124 P.3d 460, 463; see also Bellcourt v. ‘State
(Minn. 1986) 390 N.W.2d 269, 274 [res gestae requires Killing and felony be part of one
continuous transaction]; Parker v. State (Fla. 1994) 641 So.2d 369, 376 [felony-murder
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rule applies in “‘the absence of some definitive break in the chain of circumstances
beginning with the felony and ending with the killing’”’].) |

Language used by the courts may have led to confusion regarding the
proper application of the two related, but distinct doctrines: “[B]ecause flight folowing a
felony has also been considered as part of the same transaction (People v. Fuller (1978)
86 Cal.App.3d 618, 623, quoting People v. Salas (1972) 7 Cal.3d 812, 822), it has
generally been held that a felony continues for purposes of the felony-murder rule “until
the criminal has reached a place of temporary safety.” (People v. Bigelow (1984) 37
Cal.3d 731, 753.)” (People v. Portillo (2003) 107 Cal. App.4th 834, 843.) In People v.
Boss, supra, 210 Cal. 245, where the court spoke of on¢ continuous act, the court also
stated the robbery had not been completed because the defendants had “not won their
way even momentarily to a place of temporary.safety.” (Id. at p. 250.) Even after Cavitt,
the Supreme Court has used “temporary safety” language in connection with the felony-
murder rule. “A robbéry is not complete until the perpetrator reaches a place of
temporary safety [citation] . . . .” (People v. Young (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1149, 1177, fn.
omitted.) | ‘

However, as stated above, the temporary safety doctrine does not define
felony-murder liability. (Cavitt, supra, 33 Cal.4th at p. 208.) The Cavitt court found that
limiting the felony-murder rule to ‘only those killings that occur prior to the felon
reaching a place of temporary safety would lead to absurd and uninfended results. (Id. at
pp- 199-200.)

' Reéonciling Cavitt with cases that have discussed temporary safety as a
component of the felony-murder rule, leads us to the following conclusion: for purposes
of the felony-murder rule, a robbery or burglary continues, at a minimum, until the .
perpetrator reaches a place of temporary safety. That is to say a killing, even an .

. accidental killing, committed while the perpetrator is in flight and prior to reaching a

* place of temporary safety, may be fairly said to be part of one continuous transaction with
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the underlying felony. But reaching a place of temporary safety does not, in and of itself,
terminate felony-murder liability so long as the felony and the killing are part of one
continuous transaction.

The defense’s requested instruction, to the extent it would be understood by
the jurors as setting the point at which felony-murder liability terminates — which
undoubtedly was the very reason it was requested — is an incorrect statement of the law
and was properly refused by the trial court. (Cavitt, supra, 33 Cal.4th at p. 208.)
Defendant concedes the trial court did not otherwise have a sua sponte duty to clarify the

meaning of the term “continuous transaction.” (/d. at pp. 203-204.)

C. Sufficiency of the Evideﬁce

Defendant contends the evidence does not support his conviction for first
degree murder under the felony-murder rule because (1) the evidence was insufficient to
prove he committed the burglary, and (2) the evidence did not prove the burglary and the

death were part of one continuous course of conduct. We disagree.

1. Standard of Review

141113

When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged on appeal, the court
must review the whole record in the light most favorable to the judgment to determine
whether it contains substantial evidence — i.e., evidence that is credible and of solid
vaIue — from which a rational trier of fact could have found the defendant guilty beydnd
a reasonable doubt.”” [Citations.]” (People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 848-849.)
“‘On appeal, we must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the People and
must presume in support of the judgment the existence of every fact the trier coﬁld
reasonably deduce from the evidence. [Citation.]’ [Citation.]” (People v. Perez (2010)

50 Cal.4th 222, 229.) Reversal for insufficient evidence “is unwarranted unless it appears
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‘that upon no hypothesis whatever is there sufficient substantial evidence to support [the

conviction)].” [Citation.]” (People v. Bolin (1998) 18 Cal.4th 297, 331.)

2. The Burglary

“Burglary falls expressly within the purview of California’s first degree
felony-murder rule. Any burglary within Penal Code section 459 is sufficient to invoke
the rule. ‘[Citations.] Whether or not the particular burglary was dangerous to human life
is of no legal import. [Citation.]” (People v. Fuller (1978) 86 Cal.App.3d 618, 623.)
Although defendant was not charged with burglary, his murder conviction is based upon
the felony-murder rule and the felony that triggered the rule in this case was a burglary.
Defendant argues that other than the fact he was in possession of property stolen during
the burglary, there is little other evidence “to support the element of entry with the intent
to steal.” However, as we pointed out above in discussing the instruction on the
inference permissible from possession of recently stolen property, little more is needed to
support a conviction. Here there was substantial corroborating evidence. Defendant
worked at a construction site near the site where the items were located before the
burglary. His cell phone records show he was in the area a_t the time the merchandise was
delivered to the residence and again around the time of the burglary. The night the
appliances were stolen, he called Trivich and told her he “got some really big things for
the kitchen.” There was also évidence from which an inference could be drawn that he
was in a hurry to get away with the stolen items in that he did not take the time to secure
them on his truck, even though he had ties in the truck. Ac{ditionally, defendant did not
have license plates on his truck that night. The plates were inside the passenger
compartnient. A jury could reasonably infer defendant made an attempt to.conceal
identiﬁcation of his truck by drivirig wifhout the plates on his truck. Plus, he testified he

“needed the stuff for the house to be built in Palm Springs.” The evidence was more than
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sufficient to support the jury’s determination the loot in defendant’s truck was from a

burglary he committed.”

3. Continuous Transaction

The burglary took place in Riverside County. The death occurred in
Orange County on the 91 Freeway, about 60 miles from the burglary. The incident that
claimed Piquette’s life was caused by a stolen stove falling from the back of defendant’s
truck into the lanes of traffic. At the time of Piquette’s death, the burglary had yet to be
discovered. In support of his argument that the evidence does not demonstrate the death
and the burglary were part of one continuous transaction, he asserts that (1) at 1:00 a.m.
he told Trivich he had acquired large kitchen appliances and the cell phone records
indicate he was traveling west to east (toward Palm Springs) at the time; (2) the death
occurred four hours later, when defendant was travelling in the opposite direction, away
from Palm Springs; and (3) defendant had réached a place of temporary safety and
lingered there before getting on the 91 Freeway and heading back to Long Beach. He
contends these facts demonstrate he (1) already had the loot when he spoke with Trivich
four hours before Piquette’s death; (2) he then drove to Palm Springs with the loot; and,
(3) and remained in Palm Springs for some time before bringing the loot back toward
Long Beach and arriving in Orange County where the collision occurred. He argues thaf
as a result, there is no evidence to support a conclusion the “the death occurred during

efforts to escape the burglary or that the accident resulted from an attempt to conceal the

4 Defendant argues evidence that “merely raises a strong suspicion of the

- defendant’s guilt is not sufficient to support a conviction.” That is true enough, but the
cases he relies upon are inapposite. In reversing the conviction in People v. Briggs
(1967) 255 Cal.App.2d 497, the court pointed out the importance of the fact that
“I[n]othing from the burglary . . . was found in the possession of defendant.” (Id. at p.
501.) And in People v. Rascon (1954) 128 Cal.App.2d 118, the court noted that there
was no evidence whether any of the stolen property had been found. (/d. at p. 122 )
Defendant, on the other hand, possessed all the loot from the burglary.
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property which was openly on display in the bed of the pickup truck.”

“In light of the deferential standard of review that applies to this sufficiency
of evidence claim, we must reject his interpretation of the evidence.” (People v. Smith
(2005) 37 Cal.4th 733, 744.) The jury could have reasonably concluded defendant left
his residence in Long Beach intending to drive to Menifee to steal the appliances and that
he made the telephone call to Trivich for gas money because he would need gas to drive
the appliances from Long Beach, where he would get the money from Trivich, to the
project in Palm Springs. The cell phone records demonstrate he was driving west to east
at the time of the telephone calls. That fact, however, does not mean he was headed to
Palm Springs. Menifee is south of the 91 Freeway, off of Interstate 215. Driving from
Long Beach, defendant would have taken the 91 Freeway east to Interstate 215 south.
The July 7, 4:30 a.m. cell phone record show his phone was pinging a cell phone tower
betWeen Interstate 215 and the 91 Freeway. The jury could have concluded he was on his
way back from Menifee at that time and rejected defendant’s testimony that he went to
Palm Springs that morning, just as it rejected his testimony that he bought the stolen
property at a Home Depot and did not commit the burglary.

Defendant, in an apparent rush to flee the scene of the burglary, loaded up
his pickup truck with the loot and left the tailgate down. He did not tie down the
refrigerator, stove, and other appliances although he had ties in the truck. He then fled
 the scene and while he was on his way back to Long Beach to unload the loot, the stove
fell off the back of his trﬁck and Piquette died as a result. The homicide occurred while
defendant was in immediate flight from the burglary to the location where he would
unioad the loot. The burglary and the homicide were part of a continuous transaction.
“‘Once a person perpetrates or atterﬁpts to perpetrate one of the enumerated felo_ni'es, then
in the judgment of the Legislature, he is no longer entitied to such fine judicial
calibration, but will be deemed guilty of first degree murder for any homicide committed

in the course thefeof.f [Citation.]” (People v. Farley, supra, 46 Cal.4thatp. 1121.)
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Here, the act that caused the homicide — the failure to tie down the load of stolen loot —
occurred at the scene of the burglary, not 60 miles later when part of the unsecured load
fell off the back of defendant’s truck as he drove to where he could unload and hide the

loot. Accordingly, we find sufficient evidence to support the murder conviction.

D. Due Process

Defendant argues that use of the felony-murder rule on the facts of this case
denied him due process of law and rendered his trial fundamentally unfair. He argues
that because he was not escaping or being pursued by anyone at the time of the killing,
the felony-murder rule should not apply and the only conduct being deterred by
application of the rule “was a lack of care in securing the load in the bed of the truck.”
‘Having found the evidence supports the conviction, we find no due process violation. As
stated above, the purpose of the felony-murder rule is to prevent accidental or negligent
killings in the perpetration of certain felonies, including burglary, by holding felons
strictly responsible for killings them commit. “‘The Legislature has said in effect that
this deterrent purpose outweighs the normal legislative policy of examining the
individual state of mind of each person causing an unlawful killing to determine whether
the killing was with or without malice; deliberate or accidental, and calibrating our
treatment of the person accordingly. Once a person perpetrates or attempts to perpetrate
one of the enumerated félonies, then in the judgmént of the Legislature, he is no longer
entitléd to such ﬁrie judicial calibration, but will be deemed guilty of first degree murder
for any homicide committed in the course thereof.” [Citation.] Pblicy concerns regarding
the inclusion of burglary in the first degree felony-murder statute remain within the
Legislature’s domain, and do not authorize this court to limit the plain language of the

" statute.” (People v. Farley, supra, 46 Cal.4th at p. 1121.) ,
This is not a case where the homicide occurrgd because defendant

committed some minor traffic violation 60 miles from the location where he had earlier
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committed a burglary and which only coincidentally connected the homicide and
burglary together. Piquette’s death was caused by defendant’s negligent act committed
while he was actively engaged in committing the burglary.” Had he used the ties he had
in the truck and/or closed the tailgate on his truck, rather than leaving the scene in a rush
to avoid detection, the homicide would not have occurred. To that end, the purpose of
the felony-murder rule — to deter accidental or negligent Killings is met and application

of the felony-murder rule did not deny defendant due process.

E. Cruel and Unusual Punishment

Defendant’s last argument is that his punishment constitutes a violation of
the state and federal constitutional prohibitions upon cruel and unusual punishment. The
Attorney General counters defendant waived this argument by failing to raise the issue in

the trial court.
The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution declares:

“Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual
punishments inflicted.” The cruel and unusual punishment clause is made applicable to
the states through the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment (Robinson v.
.ététe of California (1962) 370 U.S. 660, 666-667) and “to sentences for terms of years.’;
(Zockyer v. Andrade (2003) 538 U.S. 63, 72.) “Embodied in the Constitution’s ban on
cruel and unusual punishment is the ‘precept of justice that punishment for a crime
should be graduated and proportioned to [the] offense.” [Citation.]” (Graham v. Florida
(2010) _U.S. _,[130 S.Ct. 2011, 2021].) The high court has held that “three fe/tctors

may be relevant to a determination of whether a sentence is so disproportionate that it

> Burglaries, may be more appropriate. Considering the amount of items
stolen and loaded into his truck, including a refrigerator, stove, fixtures, and the kitchen
sink, defendant would have had to have made multiple entries into the house, all with the
intent to steal. ‘
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violates the Eighth Amendment: (i) the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the
penalty; (ii) the sentences imposed on other criminals in the same jurisdiction; and (iii)
the sentences imposed for commission of the same crime in other jurisdictions.’
[Citation.]” (Ewing v. California (2003) 538 U.S. 11, 22.)

In connection with the Eighth Amendment argument, defendant argues only
that his sentence is grossly disproportionate with his offense as to be prohibited. We do
not find a sentence of 25 years to life for a first degree murder under the felony-murder
rule to be grossly disproportionate under the Eight Amendment.

Article I, section 17, of the California Constitution proscribes “{c]ruel or
unusual punishment.” A prison sentence runs afoul of article I, section 17, if it is “so
disproportionate to the crime for which it is inflicted that it_ shocks the conscience and
offends fundamental notions of human dignity.” (In re Lynch (1972) 8 Cal.3d 410, 424,
fn. omitted.)

In his brief, defendant points out two of the techniques courts use in
deciding whether or not a punishment complies with the requirements set forth in Lynch.
(Lynch, supra, 8 Cal.3d at pp. 425-427.) Courts have exan;ined the nature of the offense
and/or the nature of the offender with partiéular regard to the degree of danger both
present to society and compared the challenged penalty with the punishments prescribed
for more serious offenses in the same jurisdiction. (/bid.)

“[Clourts must also view ‘the nature of the offender’ in the concrete rather
than the abstract: although the Legislature can define the offense in general terms, each
offender is necessarily an individual. Our opinion in Lynch, for example, concludes by
observing that the punishment in question not only fails to fit the crime, ‘it does not fit
the criminal.” (8 Cal.3d at p. 43’7.) This branch of the inquiry therefore focuses on the
particular person before the court, and asks whether the punishm.ent is grossly

disproportionate to the defendant’s individual culpability as shown by such factors as his
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age, prior criminality, personal characteristics, and state of mind.” (People v. Dillon
(1983) 34 Cal.3d 441, 479.)

In Dillon, the defendant was convicted of first degree felony-murder, and
the court found the punishment for first degree murder to be cruel and unusual. (People
v. Dillon, supra, 34 Cal.3d at pp. 450, 489.) But Dillon involved a 17-year-old high
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school student who functioned “‘like a much younger child,”” and “‘pulled the trigger so
many times because [he] was so scared.”” (Id. at pp. 451, 483.) Not so in the instant
matter where defendant is an adult who, from the totality of circumstances in the record
before us, appears to have carefully planned his felony. Plus, his significant criminal
record indicates he poses a continuing and serious threat to public safety.

The probation report prepared by the Orange County Probation Department
is almost one-inch thick. It shows this is not a case of a troubled youth who went
temporarily off course and led an exemplary life until the instant crime.

Defendant was born in 1976. A petition alleging that when he was 11 years
old, a girl teased him and he “produced a knife and stabbéd her leg,” was sustained. The
report continues that when he was 13, “a man apprehended the defendant after he
attempted to steal a bicycle. The incident was reported to the police and officers searched
the defendant. He had a bank card that was taken during a residential burglary the
previous day. He also violated his probation by failing to report as directed aﬁd by
staying away from home ovemight without permission.” AlSo when he was 1'3, a petition
alleging burglary of three residences was sustained. Included in the loot taken was a gun
and ammunition.

‘When defendant was 14 years old, two petitions were sustained. In one, he

“violated probation. The other was another residential burglary during which another gun
and ammunition were stolen. )

Another petition was sustained when defendant was 15. The report states

he “threw his mother on the ground straddled and attempted to choke her. He also
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punched holes in the walls of their home, threatened fo ‘bash’ his mother’s head with a
baseball bat and held a knife near her face while moving it in a stabbing motion.”

Still while he was 15 years old, another petition was sustained. The repoft
reads: “According to the police report, the defendant and a companion approached a man
who was parking his car. The defendant held a .12-gauge Shotgun against the man’s head
and told him to leave the car. He and his companion forced the man into the car trunk,
and then drove the car for a mile before releasing the man. The car was discovered
approximately two hours later and it was crashed into a curb with the engine running.
Police found the defendant and three companions in a van. The defendant had shotgun
shells in his possession, and the gun was located in a nearby trash can.”

While he was still 15, defendant was sentenced to 33 years and eight
months in the California Youth Authority. The report states “the defendant entered a
woman’s residence while she bathed. He struck her face, knocked her on the floor and
placed a pillow over her head. He tore off her panties, and then threatened to kill her if
she looked at him. He unsuccessfully attempted intercourse, asked for her purse and
pretended to leave her residence. He returned a few minutes later, raped and threatened
to kill her again. The victim required 100 stitches and plastic surgery to treat her facial
injuries.” The police reported that defendant admitted he raped the woman, and that he
stated he was “angry and wanted to hurt someone.’

v Defendant was released from CYA several months prior to his 25th
birthday and sent to a halfway house where he remained for 15 months. At age 26, he
was convicted of violating Penal Code section 290 when he moved and did not register as

-asex offénder | _

When defendant was 28, he was convicted of violating Vehicle Code
section 231 52 subd1v151ons (a) and (b), driving under the influence. He was convicted of |
the same thing when he was 29 and served time in jail. With regard to that incident, the

report reads: “According to the police report, officers were dispatched to the scene of a
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hit-and-run collision. Dispatch advised that a white pickup truck struck some bushes near
the guard shack at the Crystal Cove Promenade and the driver was last seen running in a
westbound direction. The driver was described as being very intoxicated.” A few weeks
later, defendant was arrested again for driving under the influence while traveling from
Laguna Beach to Palm Springs.

The Department of Motor Vehicles records show defendant’s bail was
forfeited in 2002. He had his jail sentences suspended twice the same year. In 2004 and
2005, he was jailed again. His driver’s license was revoked in 2004, 2005, and
suspended again “effective April 27, 2006 for DUI or Drugs.” The probation report
states: “There were two accidents reflected on his driving record where he was declared
the party found most at fault.” Records from the Orange County jail show defendant had
a “major violation for mutual combat.”

The prosecutor’s report to the probation department describes defendant as
“a truly dangerous individual.” He noted that defendant was “only able to remain free of
new law violations for less than 18 months when he willfuily failed to register as a sex
offender pursuant to Penal Code section 290. The violation for failure to register takes on
a more ominous significance when coupled with the allegations from an acquaiﬁtance
from Long Beach who indicated that [defendant] put something into her drink during a
social night out with friends in a bar and had subsequently raped her.”

When the court sentenced defendant, the judée stated: “In relation to the
sentencing issue, the éourt would note that the pages of the sentehcing report are chilling
in terms of your record. Irecognize that . . . your father was in state prison. You’re not
unique to this court in terms of defendants who’ve had a parent in state prison. [f] It’s
clear to this court, you’re an extremely dangerous individual.”

In viewing defendant in the concréte, rather than in the abstract, we find no
merit in defendant’s argument and conclude that in this case, the punishment fits the

crime and the defendant. He was not subjected to cruel nor unusual punishment.
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I
DISPOSITION

The judgment is affirmed.

MOORE, ACTING P. J.

WE CONCUR:

FYBEL, J.

IKOLA, J.
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